NO. 45398-3-II

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

BRIAN EDWARD WILSON,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

John A. Hays, No. 16654 Attorney for Appellant

1402 Broadway Suite 103 Longview, WA 98632 (360) 423-3084

1. Assignment of Error
	2. Issue Pertaining to Assignment of Error
C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
	1. Factual History
	2. Procedural History4
D.	ARGUMENT
	I. THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED THE DEFENDANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO HAVE A FAIR TRIAL IN WHICH THE JURY WAS THE SOLE JUDGE OF THE FACTS WHEN IT ALLOWED THE PROSECUTOR AND A POLICE OFFICER OVER DEFENSE OBJECTION TO REFER TO THE COMPLAINING WITNESS AS THE "VICTIM" OF THE DEFENDANT'S SEXUAL ASSAULT9 II. THE DEFENDANT'S CONVICTION SHOULD BE REVERSED AND THE CHARGES DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED THE DEFENDANT'S STATUTORY RIGHT TO SPEEDY TRIAL
E.	CONCLUSION
F.	APPENDIX
	1. Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 21222. United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment223. CrR 3.323

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page						
State Cases						
State v. Black, 109 Wn.2d 336, 745 P.2d 12 (1987)						
State v. Carlin, 40 Wn.App. 698, 700 P.2d 323 (1985) 9, 10						
State v. Garrison, 71 Wn.2d 312, 427 P.2d 1012 (1967)						
State v. Haga, 8 Wn.App. 481, 506 P.2d 159 (1973)						
State v. Kingen, 39 Wn.App. 124, 692 P.2d 215 (1984)						
State v. Lawrence, 108 Wn.App. 226, 31 P.3d 1198 (2001)						
State v. Nguyen, 131 Wn.App. 815, 129 P.3d 821 (2006) 18, 19						
Constitutional Provisions						
Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 21						
United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment9						
Statutes and Court Rules						
CrR 3.3						

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Assignment of Error

- 1. The trial court violated the defendant's constitutional right to have a fair trial in which the jury was the sole judge of the facts when it allowed the prosecutor and a police officer over defense objection to refer to the complaining witness as the "victim" of the defendant's sexual assault.
- 2. The trial court violated the defendant's right to speedy trial under CrR 3.3 when it granted his attorney's motion to continue the trial past the time for speedy trial without first obtaining the consent of the defendant.

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error

- 1. Does a trial court violate a defendant's right under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 21, and United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment, to have a fair trial in which the jury was the sole judge of the facts if it allows the prosecutor and two police officers over defense objection to repeatedly refer to the complaining witness as the "victim" of the defendant's sexual assault?
- 2. Does a trial court violate a defendant's right to speedy trial under CrR 3.3 if it grants the defense attorney's motion to continue the trial past the time for speedy trial without first obtaining the consent of the defendant?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Factual History

On March 16, 2013, Kitsap Transit bus driver Helen Henry was driving on her regular route in the afternoon when she pulled up to a stop by the Port Orchard foot ferry. RP 77-79\(^1\). As she did she saw a man pressed up from behind and with one arm over the shoulder of a young woman who looked distressed and afraid. *Id.* Based upon what she saw Ms Henry stopped her bus, got out and asked the young woman if she knew the man next to her. *Id.* When the young woman said "no" Ms Henry ordered the man to leave. *Id.* The man, whom Ms Henry could see was drunk, then stepped away from the young woman laughing and giggling. RP 79-80. When he didn't walk away Ms Henry told him that she would "call somebody to help you move if you'd like." *Id.* Ms Henry then turned around and saw that the young woman had got on her bus. *Id.* Ms Henry had never seen the man or the young woman before that day. RP 81

During this same time period, another young woman by the name of Laura Talkington walked up to the bus stop. RP 86-87. She also saw the

¹The record on appeal includes 11 volumes of verbatim reports, including six volumes of pretrial hearings, four volumes of trial proceedings, and one volume of the sentencing. The pretrial proceedings and the sentencing hearing are referred to herein as "RP [date of hearing] [page #]." The four volumes of trial reports are continuously numbered and are referred to herein as "RP [page #]."

drunken man, whom she later identified as the defendant, leaning up again a young woman with one of his arms across her shoulder. RP 88-89. The young woman looked afraid. *Id.* As Ms Talkington approached she recognized the young woman as an acquaintance by the name of HB. RP 87. When Ms Talkington approached HB looked at her and mouthed "help." *Id.* Ms Talkington responded to HB's plea by yelling "She's only 15 years old, you need to back off!" RP 89. The defendant, who appeared drunk, then staggered away while Ms Talkington turned to summons police officers. RP 89-91.

In fact two police officers had already responded to a call and drove up to see the defendant leaning against HB from behind with an arm draped across her shoulder. RP 116-118, 123-124. As they approached they say the defendant walk away. *Id.* One officer then went and arrested the defendant and put him in a patrol car. RP 123-124. The other officer went to help HB and take statements from witnesses. RP 116-119. He then took HB to the patrol car where she positively identified the defendant as the person who had been bothering her. RP *Id.* Both officers could see that the defendant was intoxicated. RP 119-120, 124.

HB later related that she had been waiting at the bus stop when the defendant approached her and started a conversation. RP 95-96, 98-102. He smelled of alcohol. *Id*. He then pressed up against her and tried to give her

a kiss. *Id.* She told him to back off but he didn't. RP 98-99. At that point she claimed he put one arm over her shoulder, reached inside her shirt and touched one of her breasts. RP 97. He then tried to kiss her again. RP 98-99. At about that time two people approached. RP 96, 101-102. The first was an acquaintance by the name of Laura Talkington. RP 96. The second was a male bus driver she knew by the name of Dan. RP 102-103, 104. He had driven up in his bus and got out. *Id.* In fact she had taken his bus on a number of prior occasions. *Id.*

HB reported that she looked at Laura Talkington as she approached and mouthed "help" to her. RP 95-96. Laura responded by yelling at the defendant to back off because she's "fifteen." RP 97. HB also remembered that her male bus driver acquaintance by the name of Dan also came over to help. RP 101, 104. When later relating what had happened HB was quite sure that the bus driver who stopped to help her was a male and was in fact "Dan," whose bus she had ridden on many occasions. RP 104. Although the bus driver Helen Henry, Laura Talkington, and the two police officers all observed the defendant standing behind HB with one arm over her shoulder, none of them claim to have seen the defendant put his hand inside HB's shirt or touch her breast. RP 82, 91-92, 119-120, 125-126.

Procedural History

BRIEF OF APPELLANT - 4

By information filed April 1, 2013, the Kitsap County Prosecutor

charged the defendant Brian Edward Wilson with one count of Child Molestation in the Third Degree. CP 1-2. Two days later on April 3rd the defendant appeared for arraignment, and pled not guilty. RP 4/3/13 1-6. Given that the defendant was in custody the court set a pretrial for May 1st and a trial for May 28th. *Id*. The court calculated that the time for speedy trial would run on June 3rd. *Id*. On the May 1st pretrial the defense asked and the court agreed to put the matter over one week so counsel could review additional reports that the state had just produced. RP 5/1/13 1-3. One week later on May 9th, the defense stated that its interview with the complaining witness was that day. RP 5/9/13 3. The court then set a trial review date for May 16th. *Id*.

On May 16th the parties appeared for a trial review at which time defense counsel asked to change the trial date from May 20th to June 10th as the defense was trying to "locate some witnesses." RP 5/16/13 2. The state objected and the court did not enquire of the defendant whether or not he was willing to sign a speedy trial waiver. *Id.* In fact, when the court granted the defense attorney's motion and set a new trial date for June 10th the defendant objected stating "Why can't it be sooner." RP 5/16/13 3-4.

On June 10th the court called the case for trial. RP 6/10/13 2. At that time the court informed the defendant that his case would be continued because there was another case with "less speedy" trial time remaining. *Id*.

The court then reset the defendant's trial date to July 8th upon the state's claim that one of its witnesses, Officer David Walker, would be unavailable until that date. RP 6/10/13 3-5. At that time the defendant gave a written letter to the court objecting to any continuances. CP 22-25. When the case was called for trial on July 8th the prosecutor asked for and the court granted another week's extension upon the prosecutor's statement that Officer Walker would actually not be back until July 15th. *Id*.

The case was later called for trial on July 15th, at which time defense counsel handed the court a second letter from the defendant. RP 3; CP 29-32. Counsel also noted that defendant had requested that counsel move to dismiss the charges based upon a speedy trial violation and that she had refused upon her belief that the motion was without merit. RP 3. The case then proceeded to trial with the parties spending the first day on motions *in limine* and the second day starting *voir dire*. RP 3-44. As one of its motion *in limine* the defense moved that the court preclude the state or any witness from referring to HB as the "victim" of the defendant's crime. RP 8-12. The court denied the motion. *Id*.

During the trial the state called five witnesses: Helen Henry, Laura Talkington, HB and the two police officers Patrick Pronovost and David Walker. RP 77, 86, 94, 114, 122. During the state's direct examination of the two police officers the prosecutor referred to HB as the "victim" of the

defendant's crimes and both of those police officers referred to HB as the "victim." The prosecutor's first two uses of this term occurred during the following question to the first officer:

Q. You briefly described the *victim's* demeanor while she was still sitting at the bus station. Did you have additional contact with the *victim*?

A. Yes.

RP 118 (emphasis added).

The third time the prosecutor used the term "victim" in front of the jury occurred directly after the second police officer used this term to refer to HB. RP 123-124. This exchange went as follows:

Q. So when you got there, what was your role in it?

A. We arrived, the suspect was pointed out, and I immediately recognized him. So I sort of gravitated to the suspect, since I was the lead car and I was closer to him. So I went that way while Officer Pronovost spoke to *the victim*.

Q. Okay. Did you ever have a chance to talk to *the victim*?

A. I think briefly. Basically, she pointed to the direction where the suspect was. I didn't get a blow-for-blow detail of what happened, but it was sort of pointed out, that's him. Other people in the area pointed. And I went directly to them – to him, I should say.

RP 123-124 (emphasis added).

This same police officer again referred to HB as the "victim" of the defendant's crime during the following exchange on cross-examination.

Q. Okay. Do you remember the transit employee?

A. It was a male, mid 40s, early 50s. I didn't recall his name. I didn't get his name. I dealt with Mr. Wilson primarily.

Q. Okay.

A. As well as the victim, so ...

O. Okay.

RP 126 (emphasis added).

Finally, the prosecutor again referred to HB as the "victim" of the defendant's crimes during the following statement made as part of closing arguments:

In light of what the others saw and reported to you, the proximity of the defendant to *the victim*, his arm around her shoulder, his chin on her shoulder; in light of that testimony, is it a stretch to believe that he also tried to kiss her and touch her breast? Is that a stretch? Absolutely not.

RP 151.

After the close of the state's case the defense rested without calling any witnesses. RP 127. Neither did the defense voice any objections to the court's instructions to the jury. RP 133-141. Following argument by counsel and deliberation the jury eventually returned a "guilty" verdict. RP 144-156, 164-168; CP 109. The court later sentenced the defendant within the standard range, after which the defendant filed timely notice of appeal. CP 135-144, 146-147.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED THE DEFENDANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO HAVE A FAIR TRIAL IN WHICH THE JURY WAS THE SOLE JUDGE OF THE FACTS WHEN IT ALLOWED THE PROSECUTOR AND A POLICE OFFICER OVER DEFENSE OBJECTION TO REFER TO THE COMPLAINING WITNESS AS THE "VICTIM" OF THE DEFENDANT'S SEXUAL ASSAULT.

Under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 21 and under United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment every criminal defendant has the right to a fair trial in which an impartial jury is the sole judge of the facts. *State v. Garrison*, 71 Wn.2d 312, 427 P.2d 1012 (1967). As a result no witness whether a lay person or expert may give an opinion as to the defendant's guilt either directly or inferentially "because the determination of the defendant's guilt or innocence is solely a question for the trier of fact." *State v. Carlin*, 40 Wn.App. 698, 701, 700 P.2d 323 (1985). In *State v. Carlin*, the court put the principle as follows:

"[T]estimony, lay or expert, is objectionable if it expresses an opinion on a matter of law or ... 'merely tells the jury what result to reach." (Citations omitted.) 5A K.B. Tegland, Wash.Prac., Evidence Sec. 309, at 84 (2d ed. 1982); see Ball v. Smith, 87 Wash.2d 717, 722-23, 556 P.2d 936 (1976); Comment, ER 704. "Personal opinions on the guilt ... of a party are obvious examples" of such improper opinions. 5A K.B. Tegland, supra, Sec. 298, at 58. An opinion as to the defendant's guilt is an improper lay or expert opinion because the determination of the defendant's guilt or innocence is solely a question for the trier of fact. State v. Garrison, 71 Wash.2d 312, 315, 427 P.2d 1012 (1967); State v. Oughton, 26 Wash.App. 74, 77, 612 P.2d 812, rev. denied, 94 Wn.2d 1005 (1980).

The expression of an opinion as to a criminal defendant's guilt violates his constitutional right to a jury trial, including the independent determination of the facts by the jury. *See Stepney v. Lopes*, 592 F.Supp. 1538, 1547-49 (D.Conn.1984).

State v. Carlin, 40 Wn.App. 701; See also State v. Black, 109 Wn.2d 336, 745 P.2d 12 (1987) (trial court denied the defendant his right to an impartial jury when it allowed a state's expert to testify in a rape case that the alleged victim suffered from "rape trauma syndrome" or "post-traumatic stress disorder" because it inferentially constituted a statement of opinion as to the defendant's guilt or innocence).

For example, in *State v. Carlin, supra*, the defendant was charged with second degree burglary for stealing beer out of a boxcar after a tracking dog located the defendant near the scene of the crime. During trial the dog handler testified that his dog found the defendant after following a "fresh guilt scent." On appeal the defendant argued that this testimony constituted an impermissible opinion concerning his guilt, thereby violating his right to have his case decided by an impartial fact-finder (the case was tried to the bench). The Court of Appeals agreed noting that "[p]articularly where such an opinion is expressed by a government official such as a sheriff or a police officer the opinion may influence the fact finder and thereby deny the defendant a fair and impartial trial." *State v. Carlin*, 40 Wn.App. at 703.

Similarly, in *State v. Haga*, 8 Wn.App. 481, 506 P.2d 159 (1973), the

defendant was convicted of murder, and appealed, arguing, in part, that he was denied his right to an impartial jury when the court allowed an ambulance driver called to the scene to testify that the defendant did not appear to show any signs of grief at the death of his wife and daughter. The Court of Appeals agreed and reversed, stating as follows.

A witness may not testify to his opinion as to the guilt of a defendant. *State v. Harrison*, 71 Wash.2d 312, at page 315, 427 P.2d 1012, at page 1014 (1967), said:

Finally, it is contended that the trial court erred in refusing to permit the proprietor of the burglarized tavern to give his opinion as to whether or not appellant was one of the parties who participated in the burglary. The proprietor of the tavern was in no better position than any other person who investigated the crime to give such an opinion. To the question literally asked the witness to express an opinion on whether or not the appellant was guilty of the crime charged. Obviously this question was solely for the jury and was not the proper subject of either lay or expert opinion.

This recognized the impropriety of admitting the opinion of any witness as to guilt by direct statement or by inference as *Harrelson* likewise clearly points out. *See also State v. Norris*, 27 Wash. 453, 67 P. 983 (1902); 5 R. Meisenholder, Wash. Prac. s 342 (1965).

To the testimony of the ambulance driver was wrongfully admitted. It inferred his opinion that the defendant was guilty, an intrusion into the function of the jury.

State v. Haga, 8 Wn.App. At 491-492. See also State v. Black, 109 Wn.2d 336, 745 P.2d 12 (1987) (trial court denied the defendant his right to an impartial jury when it allowed a state's expert to testify in a rape case that the alleged victim suffered from "rape trauma syndrome" or "post-traumatic

stress disorder" because it inferentially constituted a statement of opinion as to the defendant's guilt or innocence).

In the case at bar, the court violated the defendant's right to have a fair trial free from opinions of guilt when, over defense objection though a motion *in limine*, it allowed the prosecutor and police officers to repeatedly refer to the complaining witness as the "victim" of a sexual assault by the defendant, thereby giving their opinions that the defendant was guilty of the crime charged. This occurred six times during the trial. The first two uses of this term came in the following single question by the prosecutor:

Q. You briefly described the *victim*'s demeanor while she was still sitting at the bus station. Did you have additional contact with the *victim*?

A. Yes.

RP 118 (emphasis added).

The third and fourth time the jury heard the prosecutor and a police officer describe HB as the "victim" occurred in the following exchange:

Q. So when you got there, what was your role in it?

A. We arrived, the suspect was pointed out, and I immediately recognized him. So I sort of gravitated to the suspect, since I was the lead car and I was closer to him. So I went that way while Officer Pronovost spoke to *the victim*.

O. Okay. Did you ever have a chance to talk to *the victim*?

A. I think briefly. Basically, she pointed to the direction where the suspect was. I didn't get a blow-for-blow detail of what happened,

but it was sort of pointed out, that's him. Other people in the area pointed. And I went directly to them - to him, I should say.

RP 123-124 (emphasis added).

The fifth use of the term "victim" to describe HB came from the same police officer during the following exchange on cross-examination.

Q. Okay. Do you remember the transit employee?

A. It was a male, mid 40s, early 50s. I didn't recall his name. I didn't get his name. I dealt with Mr. Wilson primarily.

O. Okay.

A. As well as the victim, so ...

Q. Okay.

RP 126 (emphasis added).

Finally, the sixth use of this term occurred when the prosecutor again referred to HB as the "victim" of the defendant's crimes during the following statement made as part of closing arguments:

In light of what the others saw and reported to you, the proximity of the defendant to *the victim*, his arm around her shoulder, his chin on her shoulder; in light of that testimony, is it a stretch to believe that he also tried to kiss her and touch her breast? Is that a stretch? Absolutely not.

RP 151.

The fact is that words have meaning and some words have come to carry special meaning in our society. One of these words is "victim." By using it the prosecutor and the police unequivocally communicated two facts

to the jury: (1) that the defendant was guilty of sexually assaulting HB, and (2) that the prosecutor and the police believed HB's claims. One might well ask whether or not the trial court would have countenanced for one second an attempt by the defense to repeatedly refer to the defendant as the "falsely accused" in front of the jury. The first attempt would undoubtedly have resulted in the court threatening counsel with contempt if not actually finding counsel in contempt. Would this court on appeal then have seriously considered reversing such a contempt citation upon an argument that the term "falsely accused" didn't really convey an improper opinion by defense counsel or constitute an attempt to impermissibly convey a personal opinion to the jury? The purpose of this rhetorical question is to illustrate the fact that words like "falsely accused" and "victim" are loaded words that convey specific meaning to a jury. Their use is improper.

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