NO. 45398-3-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

BRIAN EDWARD WILSON,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF KITSAP COUNTY, STATE OF WASHINGTON Superior Court No. 13-1-00333-1

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RUSSELL D. HAUGE Prosecuting Attorney

RANDALL A. SUTTON Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

614 Division Street Port Orchard, WA 98366 (360) 337-7174

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. THE BRIEF REFERENCES TO HLB AS THE VICTIM WERE NOT IMPROPER OPINION EVIDENCE AND THE SINGLE REFERENCE TO HER AS SUCH IN CLOSING WAS PROPER ARGUMENT BASED ON THE EVIDENCE.

Wilson argues that the trial court erred when it denied a defense motion in limine asking that the State and witnesses be required to refer to HLB by a term other than the victim. He contends that referring to HLB as the victim was an opinion that Wilson was guilty. This Court will not overturn a trial court's ruling on a motion in limine absent an abuse of discretion. *State v. Powell*, 126 Wn.2d 244, 258, 893 P.2d 615 (1995). The court did not abuse its discretion by denying Wilson's motion.

A witness may not offer an opinion regarding the defendant's guilt, either by direct statement or by inference. *State v. Black*, 109 Wn.2d 336, 348, 745 P.2d 12 (1987). Such an opinion violates the defendant's right to a jury trial, which vests in the jury "the ultimate power to weigh the evidence and determine the facts." *State v. Montgomery*, 163 Wn.2d 577, 590, 183 P.3d 267 (2008) (*quoting Const. art. I*, § 21, and *James v. Robeck*, 79 Wn.2d 864, 869, 490 P.2d 878 (1971)). Whether testimony constitutes an impermissible opinion about the defendant's guilt depends on the circumstances of the case, including (1) the type of witness involved, (2) the specific nature of the testimony, (3) the nature of the charges, (4) the type of defense, and (5) the other evidence before the trier of fact. *Montgomery*, 163 Wn.2d at 591.

Here, the brief references to HLB as "the victim" did not constitute an improper opinion on guilt under the circumstances. First, because HLB was a complainant to the Port Orchard police, it was not a comment on Wilson's guilt for them to label her the "victim" for purposes of their investigation and to describe her as the "victim" in that context. In other words, the words do not convey that the officers believed HLB had actually been molested.

First, the use of victim here was not framed as opinion testimony. Opinion testimony is "[t]estimony based on one's belief or idea rather than on direct knowledge of facts at issue."" *State v. Demery*, 144 Wn.2d 753, 760, 30 P.3d 1278 (2001) (*quoting* Black's Law Dictionary 1486 (7th ed. 1999)). In context, none of the questions or answers that used the term victim asked the witness to give an opinion on guilt or anything else. To the contrary, the record indicates that witnesses used the term "victim" generally as a term of art by those working in law enforcement.

The first cited usage contains no such request or suggestion of an opinion by the use of the term:

- Q. You briefly described the victim's demeanor while she was still sitting at the bus station. Did you have additional contact with the victim?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Can you describe that contact?
- A. After we put Mr. Wilson into the patrol car, I spoke with [H]. She was very upset.
- 4RP 118.¹

The next two occasions, during Officer Walker's testimony, were

likewise devoid of any editorial quality:

- Q. So when you got there, what was your role in it?
- A. We arrived, the suspect was pointed out, and I immediately recognized him. So I sort of gravitated to the suspect, since I was the lead car and I was

Q. What makes you say -- Without telling us what she said, what makes you say that she was upset?

4RP 118.

¹ Nor was the testimony that she was upset improper. Comments that are attempts to describe a witness's demeanor are proper. *State v. Rafay*, 168 Wn. App. 734, 808, 285 P.3d 83 (2012), *review denied*, 176 Wn.2d 1023, *cert. denied*, 134 S. Ct. 170 (2013). Here the prosecutor clarified the basis for the statement:

A. She was shaky. She was excited. Her voice was wavering. When she looked toward the car where we put Mr. Wilson, she kind of looked down, like she didn't want to look directly at it. She was intimidated.

closer to him. So I went that way while Officer Pronovost spoke to the victim.

- Q. Okay. Did you ever have a chance to talk to the victim?
- A. I think briefly. Basically, she pointed to the direction where the suspect was. I didn't get a blow-for-blow detail of what happened, but it was sort of pointed out, that's him. Other people in the area pointed. And I went directly to them to him, I should say.

4RP 123-24. Furthermore, given that Walker testified that he could not recall the HLB's name, it is apparent that he was using the word as a generic term of art. *See* 4RP 126. Indeed, the next complained-of example occurred on cross-examination, when Walker was explaining that he did not recall her name. *Id*.

Moreover, the testimony "must relate to the defendant" to be an improper opinion on a defendant's guilt. *State v. Wilber*, 55 Wn. App. 294, 298, 777 P.2d 36 (1989). Using the term "victim" may imply that a crime has taken place; however, it does not imply that a defendant is the victimizer; thus, it does not constitute an opinion that he was guilty of the charged crime. The testimony at issue here did not relate to Wilson.

The type of defense here was a simple denial. The defense did not present any evidence, and as was conceded below, this was not a "hesaid/she-said" case. 4RP 129. Indeed there was no evidence whatsoever that contradicted HLB's account of the offense. Finally, the other evidence before the jury was that HLB testified that Wilson tried to kiss her and touched her breast. A bus driver and an acquaintance of HLB, and a police officer all testified that Wilson was acting very inappropriately toward 15-year-old HLB: that he was hanging on her with his arm over her shoulder and with the front of his body pressed tightly against her back. There was no evidence of any past contact between HLB and Wilson nor any evidence explaining why she would falsely accuse him of touching her breast.

Given the absence of any contradictory evidence or any motive to have fabricated the charge, Wilson's claim that the fact that no one else saw the molestation calls it into question is untenable. All the witnesses indicated that they saw HLB from behind, or as Wilson concedes, it could have occurred before the witnesses arrived. Brief of Appellant at 15.

Nor does the alleged "anomaly" regarding the gender of the bus driver call HLB's testimony into doubt. *See* Brief of Appellant at 15. First, if a 15-year-old girl were accosted by a drunken stranger who grabbed her breast in the middle of the afternoon in a public place, it stands to reason that incident would be the thing that was most memorable. More importantly, while HLB did not recall bus driver Helen Henry, she did recall driver Dan. It must be kept in mind that the Port Orchard ferry terminal would have multiple buses attending to it. The bus HLB said Dan was driving had a different number than the one Helen Henry was driving. 3RP 78, 104. And Officer Walker testified that there was more than one Kitsap Transit employee present, and that at least one of them was a male who pointed Wilson out to him. 4RP 126. The record does not show any "anomaly."

Wilson's reliance on *State v. Black* and *State v. Haga*, 8 Wn. App. 481, 507 P.2d 159 (1973), is misplaced; these cases are distinguishable. In each, the witness either gave or was asked to give his opinion on the credibility of another party. A direct opinion on the credibility of the victim was given in *Black*, and an indirect opinion on the guilt of the defendant was given in *Haga*.

In *Black*, the expert whose testimony was challenged had testified that "'[t]here is a specific profile for rape victims and [the victim] fits it." *Black*, 109 Wn.2d at 339 (emphasis omitted). Likewise, in *Haga*, an ambulance driver who responded to the scene of a double murder testified that the defendant, the husband and father, respectively, of the victims, was unusually "'calm and cool about it," behavior very unlike that of the innocent relatives of murder victims whom the driver had observed. *Haga*, 8 Wn. App. at 490.

Similarly, Wilson's reliance on *State v. Carlin*, 40 Wn. App. 698, 700, 700 P.2d 323 (1985), *overruled on other grounds*, *Seattle v. Heatley*,

70 Wn. App. 573, 854 P.2d 658 (1993), is also misplaced. There, a police officer testified that a tracking dog had followed the defendant's "fresh guilt scent." But, as the Court later explained, *Carlin* did not even hold the testimony was improper:

[T]he court in Carlin did not expressly decide that the "fresh guilt scent" testimony actually constituted an opinion on the defendant's guilt. *See Carlin*, 40 Wn. App. at 703 (testimony "arguably" was an improper opinion). Instead, the court held that even if the testimony was error, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Carlin*, 40 Wn. App. at 705.

Heatley, 70 Wn. App. at 583-84.

More analogous to the facts at hand is *State v. Alger*, 31 Wn. App. 244, 640 P.2d 44 (1982). In *Alger*, a statutory rape case, the trial court read the following stipulation to jury: "There has been a stipulation ... that [Alger] ... has never been married to the victim." *Alger*, 31 Wn. App. at 246, 248-49. The Court noted that, "[i]n the context of a criminal trial, the trial court's use of the term 'victim' has ordinarily been held not to convey to the jury the court's personal opinion of the case." *Alger*, 31 Wn. App. at 249. As such, the Court held that a "reference to 'the victim' by the trial judge, did not, under the facts and circumstances of this case, prejudice the defendant's right to a fair trial by constituting an impermissible comment on the evidence." *Alger*, 31 Wn. App. at 249. If such a reference by the trial court itself was not improper, a reference by a witness, even a police officer, cannot be improper. Wilson fails to show

that the State presented improper opinion testimony.

The final example cited by Wilson occurred not during the testimony but during closing argument. Thus the applicable standard of review, which Wilson has the burden of meeting, is whether the challenged conduct was both improper and prejudicial. *State v. Cheatam*, 150 Wn.2d 626, 652, 81 P.3d 830 (2003). The Court reviews the prosecutor's conduct "by examining that conduct in the full trial context, including the evidence presented, the context of the total argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the argument, and the instructions given to the jury." *State v. Monday*, 171 Wn.2d 667, 675, 257 P.3d 551 (2011) (internal quotation marks omitted). Comments are deemed prejudicial only where there is a substantial likelihood that they affected the verdict. *State v. McKenzie*, 157 Wn.2d 44, 52, 134 P.3d 221 (2006).

Here, the prosecutor was arguing what the evidence showed. HLB testified that Wilson tried to kiss her and grabbed her breast. That evidence certainly supported an inference that HLB was a victim of child molestation. *See McKenzie*, 157 Wn.2d at 57 (rejecting that use of the word "rapist" during a trial constitutes prosecutorial misconduct when it is "a reasonable inference from the evidence and was consistent with the charged crimes"); *State v. Hunter*, 35 Wn. App. 708, 715, 669 P.2d 489

(stating the prosecution's use of the word "pimp" is a permissible reasonable inference from the trial evidence when the trial court properly instructed the jury on use of relevant prior convictions), *review denied*, 100 Wn.2d 1030 (1983).

Moreover, the trial court instructed the jury to "reach your decision based on the facts proved to you and on the law given to you, not on sympathy, prejudice, or personal preference," CP 97, and that the lawyer's remarks "are intended to help you understand the evidence and apply the law.... You must disregard any remark, statement, or argument that is not supported by the evidence or the law in my instructions." CP 96. The jury is presumed to follow the court's instructions. *State v. Stein*, 144 Wn.2d 236, 247, 27 P.3d 184 (2001). Wilson fails to show either impropriety or prejudice flowing from this remark.

Even if the five² brief references during the testimony to the "victim" were improper, they would be harmless. Improper opinions on guilt are subject to the constitutional harmless error standard set forth in *State v. Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d 412, 425, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985). *State v. Thach*, 126 Wn. App. 297, 312-13, 106 P.3d 782 (2005). The State must show beyond a reasonable doubt that any reasonable jury would have reached the same result absent the error. *State v. Watt*, 160 Wn.2d 626,

 $^{^{2}}$ As previously discussed, Wilson bears the burden of establishing harmful error with regard to the comment during closing argument.

635, 160 P.3d 640 (2007); *Thach*, 126 Wn. App. at 313 (*quoting Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d at 425). This test is met if the untainted evidence presented at trial is so overwhelming that it leads necessarily to a finding of guilt. *Watt*, 160 Wn.2d at 636.

As discussed above, four witnesses corroborated HLB's testimony that Wilson was accosting her in an unwelcome manner. No evidence contradicted her assertion that he also tried to kiss her and touched her breast under her shirt. No evidence suggested any motive for her to have made up the story. No evidence seriously called into doubt her recollection of the event. Wilson was apprehended at the scene of the assault. In short, the evidence was all consistent with Wilson's guilt. None of it in any way suggested he was not guilty.

Additionally, the trial court instructed the jury:

A defendant is presumed innocent. This presumption continues throughout the entire trial unless during your deliberations you find it has been overcome by the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt.

CP 99. As previously noted, this Court presumes that the jury followed the trial court's instructions. Stein, 144 Wn.2d at 247.

The brief use of the term victim, which was not even mentioned until near the end of a two-day trial, could not reasonably have led the jury to convict Wilson. Most assuredly, he would not have been acquitted had the term been excluded from his trial. This claim should be rejected.

B. UNDER THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF CRR 3.3, DEFENSE COUNSEL'S REQUEST FOR A CONTINUANCE WAIVES THE CLAIM THAT THE RULE WAS VIOLATED.

Wilson next claims that his rights under CrR 3.3 were violated when the trial court granted defense counsel's motion for a continuance. This claim is frivolous.

Notably, the case upon which Wilson relies involves a State motion for continuance. *See State v. Nguyen*, 131 Wn. App. 815, 817, 129 P.3d 821 (2006). However, as the Supreme Court recently explained, where defense counsel brings a continuance motion, "as the rule expressly provides, any objection is ... waived." *State v. Ollivier*, 178 Wn.2d 813, 823-24, 312 P.3d 1 (2013) (*citing* CrR 3.3(f)(2)). Moreover, "under CrR 3.3, counsel has authority to make binding decisions to seek continuances." *Ollivier*, 178 Wn.2d at 825.

Even were the claim not waived under the current rule, counsel's representation to the court would have been adequate to grant the continuance:

Under case law preceding the 2003 adoption of the last sentence in CrR 3.3(f)(2) that waives objections when defense counsel moves for a continuance, granting continuances over the defendant's objection to ensure that counsel was adequately prepared and provided effective representation was not an abuse of discretion. *State v. Campbell*, 103 Wn.2d 1, 15, 691 P.2d 929 (1984); *see State v. Finch*, 137 Wn.2d 792, 806, 975 P.2d 967 (1999).

Ollivier, 178 Wn.2d at 824 n.2.

Here, contrary to Wilson's assertion, Brief of Appellant at 20,

counsel did explain why a continuance was needed:

My investigator and I have been working with Mr. Wilson with regard to trying to locate some witnesses that he believes can be helpful in potentially providing a defense for him. It's been a bit of a struggle to get identifying information for these witnesses. We got some yesterday. And so I'm asking to set the trial date over so I can have my investigator at least try and locate these people and speak to them to, essentially, verify whether or not they have helpful information.

RP (5/16) 2. A continuance of a little over three weeks was not unreasonable under these circumstances. Even if the claim were not waived, the trial court could not be found to have abused its discretion. This claim should be rejected.

IV. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Wilson's conviction and sentence

should be affirmed.